RECEIVED
Mar 23 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Kershaw County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY C. DAVIS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001869

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JESSICA M. SAXON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the narcotics and other items seized in the search of the apartment where the search warrant affidavit contained no information establishing the confidential informant's reliability and failed to establish sufficient probable cause?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*¹ where the affidavit contained misleading statements about the alleged controlled buy that was conducted at the apartment complex?

¹ 438 U.S. 154 (1978)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the February 2017 term of the Kershaw County grand jury Appellant was indicted for one count of trafficking in meth or cocaine base 28 to 100 grams, one count of trafficking cocaine 10 to 28 grams, one count of possession with intent to distribute cocaine within proximity of a school or park, and one count of possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine within proximity of a school or park. R. 282.

The state, represented by Jennifer McKellar and Samuel McGlothin, called the case to trial on August 7, 2017, before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Arthur Aiken. R. 1. After a two-day trial the jury found Appellant guilty on all charges. R. 251-252. Appellant was sentenced to nine years imprisonment on each charge, to run concurrently, with 338 days credit for time served. R. 263-264.

Counsel Aiken filed a motion for a new trial on August 21, 2017. R. 278. A hearing was convened on the motion for a new trial on October 11, 2019. The trial court denied Appellant's motion for a new trial on October 23, 2019. R. 281. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In July of 2016, investigators with the Kershaw County Sheriff's Department began a narcotics investigation into a subject known only as "Black." Investigators believed that "Black" resided in the King Haigler apartment complex, apartment F, in downtown Camden, South Carolina, and drove a silver Lexus. R. 67, ll. 17-25. Investigators conducted surveillance of the apartment complex "on a few occasions" and noted what they believed to be activity² consistent with the sale of narcotics. R. 68, l. 18 - 69, l. 8.

On July 11, 2016, Investigator Justin Spivey prepared a search warrant affidavit and presented it to Magistrate Judge James Davis, Jr. R. 32, ll. 6-21; R. 272. Magistrate Davis was not provided with any supplemental documents or sworn oral testimony. R. 32, l. 22 - 33, l. 4.

The body of the affidavit stated in relevant part:

On July 8, 2016 agents with the Kershaw County Narcotics unit were conducting surveillance at King Heilger [sic] apartments and observed a dark colored SUV arrive at the apartment complex moments later the vehicle left and following a lawful traffic stop and lawful search agents located approximately 8 grams of marijuana that was located on one for [sic] the passengers' person. Agents then spoke with the occupants of the vehicle who stated that they just met with a black male known to them as "Black" at King Heigler [sic] apartments and purchased the marijuana from "Black."

Within the past 72 hours agents with the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office Narcotics Unit utilized a reliable confidential informant purchased [sic] a quantity of cocaine from a black male only known as "Black." The confidential informant was wired and given recorded U.S. currency provided by the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office to make the purchase. The confidential informant met with "Black" at King Heigler [sic] apartments located at 206 Laurens Street apartment F in the Camden area of Kershaw

² Investigator Bradley Lawson described this activity as "cars coming and going from a location and only staying for a few minutes and leaving, that is kind of consistent with what you would – what we hear of drug activity ... So we were kind of able to corroborate the things that we had been hearing." R. 69, ll. 1-8.

County, South Carolina 29020 to make the transaction. This incident was audio/visual recorded.

R. 272.

Prior to the execution of the search warrant, officers conducted a traffic stop on a silver Lexus believed to be driven by “Black.” The driver was identified as Anthony Davis, Appellant. R. 71, l. 2-22. The search warrant was executed on July 15, 2016, at King Haigler apartments, apartment F. R. 72, ll. 7-10. Appellant was located in an upstairs bedroom and was the only person in the apartment. R. 73, ll. 13-15. Upon being taken into custody, Appellant was read the search warrant and his Miranda rights. R. 73, ll. 15-19.

In the bedroom where Appellant was located, officers found what they believed to be a “cookie” of crack cocaine, individual bags of cocaine, a “drug ledger,” digital scales, a copy of the lease of apartment F to Appellant, Appellant’s Georgia driver’s license, and two cellphones. R. 75-78; 81-82; 85-86. Officers also located various items they believed to be consistent with drug activity, such as Pyrex containers and smaller “distribution baggies” in the apartment. R. 88-89.

Prior to trial defense counsel Art Aiken filed two motions challenging the validity of the search warrant. The first was a “motion to suppress” arguing that the search warrant affidavit was facially invalid because it did not contain any factual basis for the conclusion that the confidential informant was reliable. The second motion was a “motion to controvert search warrant and to suppress evidence” arguing that the search warrant affidavit contained false or misleading statements under Franks v. Delaware.³ Both motions asserted that the search of apartment F occurred in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. R. 265.

³ 438 U.S. 154 (1978)

At the hearing on the motions Investigator Spivey testified that a confidential informant had provided law enforcement with information about drug activity at the King Haigler Apartment complex and other areas in Kershaw County. R. 21, ll. 7-9. Spivey testified that he met with the confidential informant to set up an undercover buy. At the hearing he testified that he searched the confidential informant and her vehicle prior to the buy, however this information was not provided to the magistrate who issued the search warrant. R. 21, l. 13 - 22, l. 4. Magistrate Davis testified that he was only supplied with the information in the affidavit and nothing more. R. 32, l. 22 - .33, l. 4.

Spivey contended that the video of the undercover buy showed an actual hand to hand drug transaction “if you slowed it [the video] down,” but the video was not provided to Magistrate Davis to help him determine probable cause. R. 24, ll. 17-22; R. 33, l. 11-13. Spivey also testified that the confidential informant was not paid. He could not recall if the confidential informant was “working off” charges by helping police. R. 25, ll. 9-12.

The state argued that the specific language in the search warrant affidavit did not say a “drug transaction” was audio and video recorded but only that “this incident was audio/video recorded,” therefore it would be a “stretch to say they [law enforcement] blatantly lied by saying that there was a drug transaction audio visually recorded.” R. 12, ll. 12-23. Further, the state argued that the controlled buy was properly conducted in that the confidential informant was searched prior to and after the buy and was monitored the entire time. R. 10, l. 15 - 11, l. 2. However, again this information was never presented to the issuing magistrate. R. 32, l. 22 - 33, l. 4.

In ruling that the search warrant was valid the trial court stated:

“[W]hat the reviewing court is looking at is whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed,

and that the affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate can make a determination of probable cause. And in reviewing the validity of the warrant, the reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention. In effect, hearing this motion to controvert the search warrant, and I think we pretty much heard the motion to suppress as well, we pretty much heard all the testimony.

So, in essence, then I guess is as to what information did the magistrate have in issuing the search warrant and whether or not that amounted to probable cause. And they had the information that the officers were conducting surveillance at this apartment, and the vehicle left, they made a stop, and the person was purchasing drugs -- I mean, they found the person had possession of the drugs.

Then the affidavit next says that within the past 72 hours they viewed the confidential informant to purchase drugs from the person known as Black, and the place where the confidential informant met with Black at the King Haigler Apartments, Apartment F. The officer's testimony is that they received information from the informant that these drugs were purchased from this particular apartment and they made a controlled purchase from that apartment, and that the informant was reliable based on it being, in effect, a controlled purchase.

I don't -- I find that the officers in this instance have not given misleading testimony.

...

In my mind, the circumstances of a controlled purchase -- I can't say that I have been given information of the informant being reliable based on the past history of working for law enforcement, but based on the controlled purchase, that provides sufficient reliability and a reasonable basis, substantial basis for the magistrate concluding that probable cause to issue the search warrant existed.

I have not watched the video, I do not believe my watching the video is going to place any -- cause me to discount the testimony, but I don't know that. And the video wasn't shown to the magistrate...But I guess on the prong of whether or not what was represented by the officers to the magistrate, whether it clearly wasn't shown in the video, I guess I need to look at the video of that purchase.

...

I reviewed the video. And, first, as I stated, the video wasn't presented to the magistrate ... my view of the video is that it corroborates the circumstances indicated in the affidavit and does not contradict it.

[T]he Defense has failed to meet its burden of proof as it relates to challenging the veracity of the search warrant, one, and has not met its burden of showing that the magistrate did not have probable cause to issue the search warrants.”

R. 50, l. 19 - 54, l. 9; R. 55, l. 9 - 56, l. 6.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviewing the decision to issue a search warrant should decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002); State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 460 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 1995). This review, like the determination by the magistrate, is governed by the “totality of the circumstances” test. State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 536 S.E.2d 675 (2000); King, 349 S.C. at 148, 561 S.E.2d at 643. The appellate court should give great deference to a magistrate's determination of probable cause. Jones, 342 S.C. at 126, 536 S.E.2d at 678; State v. Dunbar, 354 S.C. 479, 581 S.E.2d 840 (2003) (Anderson, J., dissenting); King, 349 S.C. at 148, 561 S.E.2d at 643.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant’s motion to suppress the narcotics and other items seized in the search of the apartment where the search warrant affidavit contained no information establishing the confidential informant’s reliability and failed to establish sufficient probable cause.

In Appellant’s case the only information given to the issuing magistrate was the conclusory and imprecise statements made in the search warrant affidavit. The issuing magistrate was not provided with any additional information to aid him in making a determination of probable cause and could only rely on the information within the four corners of the search warrant affidavit. Without sworn oral testimony or additional documentation to substantiate the conclusory and imprecise statements, the issuing magistrate was not presented with sufficient information from which he could reasonably establish that probable cause existed to issue the search warrant.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure . . . [from] unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Notably, the South Carolina General Assembly “has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant. Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution require an oath or affirmation before probable cause can be found by an officer of the court, and a search warrant issued.” State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000); U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Code mandates that a search warrant “shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-

13-140 (1985). Evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is inadmissible in both state and federal court. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001).

“The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause. State v. Philpot, 317 S.C. 458, 454 S.E.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1995). A magistrate may issue a search warrant only upon a finding of probable cause. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). The magistrate should determine probable cause based on all of the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued.” State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 684, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Sufficient information must be presented to the magistrate to allow that official to determine probable cause for issuance of a search warrant; his action cannot be a mere ratification of the bare conclusion of others. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983).

When a confidential informant is involved, it is necessary to examine the reliability and credibility of the informant in determining the existence of probable cause. See Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 230-235 (1983). In determining whether the information relied upon by law enforcement is reliable, no one factor is necessary or sufficient to establish probable cause. Id. Instead, probable cause arises from the totality of the circumstances, and “[a] deficiency in one [factor] may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.” Id. A warrant based solely on information provided by a confidential informant must contain information supporting the credibility of the informant and the basis of his knowledge. State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines, 338 S.C. 176, 192, 525 S.E.2d 872, 881 (2000).

In determining whether a substantial basis exists, the crucial element is not whether the target of the search is suspected of a crime, but whether it is reasonable to believe that the items to

be seized will be found in the place to be searched. Zurcher v. Stanford Daily, 436 U.S. 547, 556 & n. 6 (1978). “This determination requires the magistrate to make a practical, common-sense decision of whether, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, including the veracity and basis of knowledge of persons supplying the [hearsay] information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 150, 561 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 2002).

The appellate courts of this state have had numerous opportunities to address whether a search warrant affidavit contains sufficient underlying facts and information to support a finding of probable cause. In State v. Bellamy SLED was investigating the theft of various weapons from the Atlantic Beach Police Department. Bellamy, 366 S.C. 140, 141, 519 S.E.2d 347 (1999). Luther Stanley, an individual who was being held in the North Myrtle Beach jail on unrelated drug charges, claimed to have information about the stolen weapons. Id. A SLED officer interviewed Stanley who stated that he had seen the weapons at a particular apartment in Atlantic Beach. Id. Stanley described the weapons as a 25 mm pistol, a .38 caliber pistol, and a .22 caliber Derringer. The description fit three of the more than twenty weapons that had been stolen. Id. Stanley stated he was familiar with the location because he had lived at the apartment for days at a time and he gave the SLED officer the names of the other people who usually resided in the apartment. Id. Further, Stanley stated he had been present at the apartment late one evening when the weapons were fired. Id. at 141-142, 519 S.E.2d at 347-348.

In addition to the weapons, Stanley told the SLED officer that he had seen cocaine in the apartment on various occasions and that it was usually kept inside the refrigerator or microwave oven. Id. This information was used to secure a search warrant. During the search officers recovered crack cocaine in the kitchen and one of the bedrooms of the apartment. Id. Bellamy

was charged with possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine. At trial he moved to suppress the evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant arguing the search warrant affidavit was deficient because it failed to recite the reliability of Stanley, the in-custody informant. That motion was denied, and Bellamy was found guilty as charged. *Id.*

The South Carolina Supreme Court found that given “all of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit” there was a fair probability that evidence of a crime would be found in the place identified. *Id.* at 144, 519 S.E.2d. at 349. The Court stated that the informant was a witness to the events described, that the events were described with great specificity, and that the information was confirmed to the extent that the weapons described matched the weapons that had been stolen just days earlier. The Court ruled that “[a]lthough the affidavit was weak on the element of reliability of the informant, the deficiency was compensated for by the *strong showing of specificity, first-hand observation and partial corroboration.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Notably, then Chief Justice Finney dissented from the majority. Chief Justice Finney argued that because the affidavit contained no information supporting the informant’s reliability it was deficient. He stated that the specificity the majority cited to was “illusory” and thus it did not cure the deficiency in the affidavit.

“[W]hile that deficiency **may** be compensated for by an “explicit and detailed description of alleged wrongdoing, along with a statement that the event was observed firsthand,” Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983), there was no such corroboration in the case. The “firsthand wrongdoing” detailed here consists of firing a gun in the city limits, and a vague reference to drugs on the premises - there is no firsthand observation of the relevant crime, the theft of the guns. While there is an assertion that the persons in the apartment possessed three weapons which were of the same caliber and/or make as three of the twenty guns stolen from the police department, there is simply nothing to link these common guns or the individuals to that crime.”

Id. at 145-146, 519 S.E.2d. at 350. (C.J. Finney, dissenting).

In State v. Martin, the Gaffney City Police Department obtained a search warrant based on information from a confidential informant. The affidavit for the search warrant stated:

“Affiant's belief is based upon information received from a Confidential Reliable Informant who has *provided information in the past that has proven true and correct*. This C.R.I. states that he/she has seen a quantity of marijuana at the above described location within the past 72 hours. Affiant knows this C.R.I. to know marijuana when seen by past information received from this C.R.I.”

347 S.C. 522, 526, 566 S.E.2d 706, 708 (Ct. App. 2001) (emphasis added).

Upon execution of the search warrant police found marijuana on Martin's person. At trial Martin moved to suppress the evidence obtained during the search arguing that the affidavit was insufficient in that it failed to establish the credibility or reliability of the confidential informant. Id. At the pretrial hearing on the motion to suppress, both the officer who obtained the search warrant and the issuing magistrate testified that the magistrate asked a standard set of four questions regarding the information contained in the affidavit, which included an inquiry into the reliability of the informant. Id. at 528-529, 556 S.E.2d at 709-710.

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