**RECEIVED**

**Apr 01 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Kershaw County  
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ANTHONY C. DAVIS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001869

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, S.C. 29202-1987  
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**There were two informants. Because the affidavit provided information that a non-confidential informant visiting the apartment complex told law enforcement she just purchased the drugs in her vehicle from Appellant in Appellant's apartment, and also information that a separate confidential informant purchased cocaine from Appellant in the same apartment, a substantial basis existed in the affidavit itself to support the magistrate's determination of probable cause. The issue is not preserved for review.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to suppress the search warrant because the magistrate lacked a reasonable basis to find probable cause. In this case, there was a non-confidential informant and also a confidential informant whose role was to participate in a controlled buy while monitored with a wire. The confidential informant's reliability, therefore, was not at issue since she was closely monitored. Fatal to his argument, Appellant fails to address the information provided by the non-confidential informant. Appellant admits a controlled purchase by itself may be sufficient to establish probable cause, but claims the affidavit fails to state facts sufficient to show the transaction was sufficiently controlled. Even if the description of the controlled purchase in the search warrant affidavit does not provide probable cause on its own, then certainly a substantial basis existed for the magistrate to issue the warrant based on the controlled purchase in tandem with the information provided by the non-confidential informant and law enforcement's own observations. Also, the issue is not preserved for review.

#### **The issue is not preserved for review**

The issue is not preserved for review. Three days prior to trial, defense counsel filed a perfunctory written motion to suppress evidence. It only quoted one paragraph of the search warrant affidavit, excluding mention of the non-confidential informant. It alleged there was no

showing the confidential informant was reliable. It did not challenge the language showing the confidential informant was used in a controlled buy or challenge the efficacy of the controlled buy. In the motion, defense counsel merely claimed, “The Affidavit contains only a bald assertion of the reliability of the confidential informant. To be valid, a search warrant affidavit must contain some factual basis for the conclusion that the confidential informant is reliable. Since the Affidavit is fatally deficient, Search Warrant 16559 is invalid. A search of premises grounded on an invalid warrant violates the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and under the exclusionary rule all items seized in such a search must be suppressed.” R. p. 265-66.

At trial, defense counsel never argued the four corners of the search warrant affidavit, on its face, did not support probable cause. The trial court mentioned the issue and found the affiant established a substantial basis for the magistrate to find probable cause to issue the warrant without any argument to the contrary by defense counsel.

“[I]t is the responsibility of trial counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997). The ground asserted on appeal must be supported by the objection raised at trial. State v. Silver, 314 S.C. 483, 486, 431 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1993). A “general objection that does not specify the particular ground on which the objection is based is insufficient to preserve a question for review.” State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 766 (1997). Just “the trial court’s mentioning the issue does not preserve it for appeal.” State v. Fletcher, 363 S.C. 221, 258, 609 S.E.2d 572, 591 (Ct. App. 2005) *rev’d on other grounds by State v Fletcher*, 379 SC 17, 664 S.E.2d 480 (2008). A matter is not preserved for appeal even if the trial court raises it sua sponte. Mize v. Blue Ridge Ry. Co., 219 S.C. 119, 129-30, 64 S.E.2d 253, 258 (1951). “The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520,

523 (2005).

In the present case, defense counsel did not raise a motion to suppress the evidence based on whether the language of the search warrant affidavit established a substantial basis to find probable cause. Further, the perfunctory written motion was insufficient because it was obvious that the reliability of the confidential informant was not at issue because the informant was used in a controlled buy. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 691, 583 S.E.2d 437, 445 (Ct. App. 2003) (a controlled purchase alone may be sufficient to establish probable cause to issue a search warrant); State v. Davis, 354 S.C. 348, 580 S.E.2d 778 (Ct. App. 2003) (refusing to review on suppression motion where defendant relied on memorandum without elaboration and the trial court did not rule on the issue of a Franks violation). However, defense counsel never claimed the description of the controlled purchase was insufficient to show it was properly conducted as Appellant now argues on appeal. When the trial court determined there was a substantial basis for the magistrate to find probable cause, defense counsel did not object to the ruling or point out why the affidavit would lack a substantial basis. An appellant's "failure to request a more explicit ruling constitutes a waiver to any objection to the judge's general ruling." State v. McLaughlin, 307 S.C. 19, 413 S.E.2d 819 (1992), citing State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989); see State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 486, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding error is not preserved if the party accepts the trial court's ruling). The claim arising on appeal that the description of the controlled buy was insufficient is not preserved for review.

#### **The search warrant affidavit**

The State agrees the only information provided to the magistrate to support probable cause is found in the search warrant affidavit. It was sufficient by itself to establish probable cause. The affidavit submitted in support of the search warrant states:

In July of 2016 agents received information that a black male only known as "Black" has been selling/distributing narcotics from King Heigler apartment's located [at the address] apartment F in the Camden area of Kershaw County, South Carolina 29020. Agents also received information that "Black" operates a silver in color Lexus with chrome rims, agents have observed this vehicle at the apartment on several occasions.

On July 8, 2016 agents with the Kershaw County Narcotics unit were conducting surveillance at King Heigler apartments and observed a dark colored SUV arrive at the apartment complex moments later the vehicle left and following a lawful traffic stop and lawful search agents located approximately 8 grams of marijuana that was located on one for [sic] the passenger's person. Agents then spoke with the occupants of the vehicle who stated that they just met with a black male known to them as "Black" at King Heigler apartments and purchased the marijuana from "Black."

Within the past 72 hours agents with the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office Narcotics Unit utilized a reliable confidential informant purchased a quantity of cocaine from a black male only known as "Black." The confidential informant was wired and given recorded U.S. currency provided by the Kershaw County Sheriff's Office to make the purchase. The confidential informant met with "Black" at King Heigler apartments located at [address] apartment F in the Camden area of Kershaw County, South Carolina 29020 to make the transaction. This incident was audio/visual recorded.

Based on these facts, it is believed that illegal drugs are being distributed and stored and illegal activity is taking place at this described location.

Court's Exhibit 1 (R. p. 273). The affidavit was sworn by the affiant and signed by the magistrate the same day on July 11, 2016. R. p. 273.

### **Standard of Review**

When reviewing a decision to issue a search warrant, the reviewing court should decide whether the magistrate was provided a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Applying the same standard as the magistrate, the court should base its determination on the totality of circumstances. State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003). The magistrate's probable cause determination should be afforded great deference on appeal. State v. Rutledge, 373 S.C.

312, 316, 644 S.E.2d 789, 791 (Ct. App. 2007).

The United States Supreme Court spoke as to the proper standard of review in Massachusetts v. Upton, 466 U.S. 727, 728 (1984), explaining:

[T]he Fourth Amendment's requirement of probable cause for the issuance of a warrant is to be applied, not according to a fixed and rigid formula, but rather in the light of the "totality of the circumstances" made known to the magistrate. We also emphasized that the task of a reviewing court is not to conduct a de novo determination of probable cause, but only to determine whether there is substantial evidence in the record supporting the magistrate's decision to issue the warrant.

In a per curiam opinion, the United States Supreme Court found the Massachusetts Supreme Court erred in applying the proper standard for probable cause, and additionally, for "failing to grant any deference to the decision of the Magistrate to issue a warrant. Instead of merely deciding whether the evidence viewed as a whole provided a 'substantial basis' for the Magistrate's finding of probable cause, the court conducted a de novo probable-cause determination." Id. at 732-33. The Court explained, "A deferential standard of review is appropriate to further the Fourth Amendment's strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." Id. at 733.

#### **Substantial basis to find probable cause**

Under the United States Constitution, search warrants may not be issued except "upon probable cause supported by Oath or affirmation." U.S. Const. amend. IV; State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 54, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). In order for a magistrate to issue a search warrant, the affiant must present a sworn affidavit establishing the grounds for the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). A search warrant affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts upon which a magistrate can base a probable cause determination. State v. Smith, 301 S.C. 371, 373, 392 S.E.2d 182, 183 (1990). A search warrant may only be issued upon a

finding of probable cause. Bellamy, 336 S.C. at 143, 519 S.E.2d at 348. In State v. Williams, 262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-438 (1974), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

In order to justify the issuance of a search warrant, probable cause must be shown, but the term 'probable cause' does not import absolute certainty. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain a finding of probable cause, each case stands on its own facts. The evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, or a verdict of guilty, or to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; nor need the proof be positive, it being enough if it is such as to induce in the mind of the issuing officer an honest belief that the facts set forth exist, or as would lead a man of prudence to believe that the offense has been committed.

(citing State v. Bennett, 256 S.C. 234, 182 S.E.2d 291 (1971)).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the magistrate must "make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the 'veracity' and 'basis of knowledge' of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). In determining the validity of the warrant, a reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention. State v. Gentile, 373 S.C. 506, 513-14, 646 S.E.2d 171, 174 (Ct. App. 2007). Critically, in making a probable cause determination, "magistrates are concerned with probabilities and not certainties." State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 617, 230 S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976); see Bennett, 256 S.C. at 240-241, 182 S.E.2d at 294 ("Obviously, neither the affiant nor his informer could state with absolute certainty that the weapon used to kill Green was at Bennett's house, and such was not required."). Probable cause "does not demand any showing that such a belief be correct or more likely true than false." Texas v. Brown, 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983).

Because search warrant affidavits are typically prepared by non-lawyers in the haste of

criminal investigations, they must be viewed in a common sense and realistic fashion. State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 260, 460 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 1995). “Searches based on warrants will be given judicial deference to the extent that an otherwise marginal search may be justified if it meets a realistic standard of probable cause.” Id. “Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations, including when an affidavit is ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’” State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1997) (quoting United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 923 (1984)). “[A]n affidavit for a search warrant is not to be interpreted in ‘a hypertechnical, rather than a commonsense, manner.’” United States v. Lalor, 996 F.2d 1578, 1581 (4th Cir. 1993) (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 236 (1983)).

The United States Supreme Court warns:

A grudging or negative attitude by reviewing courts toward warrants . . . is inconsistent both with the desire to encourage the use of the warrant process by police officers and with the recognition that once a warrant has been obtained, intrusion upon interests protected by the Fourth Amendment is less severe than otherwise may be the case.

Massachusetts v. Upton, 466 U.S. 727, 733 (1984) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

In determining whether a search warrant is supported by probable cause, the crucial element is not whether the target of the search is suspected of a crime, but whether it is reasonable to believe that the items to be seized will be found in the place to be searched. See Zurcher v. Stanford Daily, 436 U.S. 547, 555-556 (1978); see State v. Scott, 303 S.C. 360, 362, 400 S.E.2d 784, 786 (Ct. App. 1991) (“In the case of drug dealers, evidence is likely to be found where the dealers live.”) (quoting United States v. Angulo-Lopez, 791 F.2d 1394, 1399 (9th Cir. 1986)).

Appellant complains the affidavit lacked information providing assurances about the quality of the controlled buy. The warrant specifies the informant was wired and an audio/visual

recording of the incident was produced. But even if the controls in place for the controlled buy were not wholly articulated, this overlooks the totality of information provided in the affidavit. The Maine Supreme Court addressing the adequacy of detail concerning police supervision of a controlled purchase observed, “No single fact or piece of evidence in the affidavit is conclusive, but when viewed together, all of its averments present a consistent picture proving a substantial basis justifying [the magistrate’s decision that] there was a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime would be found at defendant’s apartment.” State v. Knowlton, 489 A.2d 529, 532 (Me. 1985).

The language mirrors Upton’s holding, despite the lack of citation, in which the United States Supreme Court concluded a substantial basis to issue the search warrant existed, finding: “No single piece of evidence in it is conclusive. But the pieces fit neatly together and, so viewed, support the Magistrate’s determination that there was a ‘fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime’ would be found in Upton’s motor home.” Upton, at 733.

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